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I. Party Information

Plaintiff{s) (name/address/phone): Ronen Nachum & Mali
Nachum, 9328 Tournament Canyon Drive, Las Vegas, NV
89144

Attorney (name/address/phone):
Michael Stein, Esq. and Brian N. Reeve, Esq. Snell &

Wilmer, LLP, 3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1100,

Las Ve_g_gs, NV 89169 Tel: (702) 784-5200

Defendant(s) (name/address/phone): Eva Longoria Parker, 6457 Deep
Dell Place, Los Angeles, CA 90068; Jonas Lowrance, Palms Place,
4381 W. Flamingo Road, Las Vegas, NV 89103; Beso, LLC, c/o
Resident Agent Bryan M. Willimas, 8363 W. Sunset Road, Ste. 300, Las
Vegas, NV 89113

Attorney (name/address/phone):

I1. Nature of Controversy (Please check applicable bold category and

applicable subcategory, if appropriate)

[] Arbitration Requested

Civil Cases

Real Property TForts

[ Landlord/Tenant ) Negligence [ Product Liability

[J Unlawful Detainer [] Negligence — Auto ] Product Liability/Motor Vehicle
DITitle to Property [J Negligence — Medical/Dental [J Other Torts/Product Liability

™1 Foreclosure [] Negligence — Premises Liability (] Intentional Misconduct

E‘ L (Slip/Fall) [ Torts/Defamation (Libel/Slander)

O QI:::St Title ] Negligence — Other [ Interfere with Contract Rights

[ Specific Performance ] Employment Torts (Wrongful termination)
— .p o [J Other Torts
LJ Condemnation/Emineni Domain [ Anti-trust
[ Other Real Property [] Fraud/Misrepresentation

[ Partition E Insurance

. . Legal Tort
[ Planning/Zoning [ Unfair Competition
Probate Other Civil Filing Types

[[] Summary Administration
[J Chapter 40

] General Administration C] General

[J Special Administration

[J Set Aside Estates

[] Trust/Conservatorships
L1 Individual Trustee
[ Corporate Trustee

h
[J Other Probate Guarantee

(O

{7] Construction Defect

[] Breach of Contract

Building & Construction
Insurance Carrier

Commercial Instrument

Other Contracts/Acct/Judgment
Collection of Actions
Employment Contract

Sale Contract
Uniform Commercial Code

[ Civil Petition for Judicial Review
[ Other Administrative Law
[[] Department of Motor Vehicles
[J Worker’s Compensation Appeal

(] Appeal from Lower Court (also check
applicable civil case box)
] Transfer from Justice Court
[J Justice Court Civil Appeal
[ Civil Writ
[] Other Special Proceeding
Civil Filing
ompromise of Minor’s Claim
[J Conversion of Property
[[] Damage to Property
[[] Employment Security
] Enforcement of Judgment
Foreign Judgment — Civil
] Other Personal Property
[] Recovery of Property
[] Stockholder Suit
[] Other Civil Matters

II1. Business Court Requested (Please check applicable category; for Clark or Washoe Counties only.)

NRS Chanters 78-88

ul;?l INIS L AQPWCESs /550

[J Commodities (NRS 90)
[ Securities (NRS 90)

[ Investments (NRS 104 Art. 8)

[ Deceptive Trade Practices (NRS 598)
[ Trademarks (NRS 600A)
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2 | Nevada Bar No. 4760
Brian Reeve, Esq.
3 | Nevada Bar No. 10197
SNELL & WILMER L.L.P..
4 isags’\flgge‘lzarlgeljgggeg 9P1a6rgway’ Suite 1100 Electronically Filed
5 | Telephone (702) 784-5200 06/03/2010 09:36:02 AM
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6 5 £
Attorneys for Plaintiffs % i‘
7 CLERK OF THE COURT
8
9
10 DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
11
s 12
5 3 RONEN NACHUM, an individual; and CASENO-A-10-617919-B
g| g2 13 | MALINACHUM, an individual,
= | g23s _ DEPT: X1
= MEEZD 14 Plaintiffs,
8Z2
B35 15 | o VERIFIED COMPLAINT
: .438':4 .
Sloaz bt Business od
P z:ﬂ. 16 EVA LONGORIA PARKER’ an Abblgllll.lcllt lU Dualucaa qul L l\cqucmcu
73 individual; JONAS LOWRANCE, an pursuant to EDCR 1.61(c)(2): primary
2 17 | individual; and BESO, LLC, a Nevada claims are based on NRS 78-92A (EDCR
” . || limited liability company, DOES 1 through 1.61(a)(1))
1s I 10, inclusive, and ROES 11 through 20,
19 1nc1u51ve (Exempt from Arbitration: Action seeking
Defendants. declaratory and equitable relief)
"N
21 Ronen Nachum (“R. Nachum”) and Mali Nachum (“M. Nachum”), hereinafter the
7 “Dlaintiffe” ar the “Nachiime” hv and thranch their iindercioned conncal af recard hring thic
et it A LCALLILLIELD Vi uiw ANGAWLIVLILID 4 U il uuuu511 LiiwviL u.u\.u.uoxslxuu WUULIOWL UL L\JUUIU, Ul.l.ll.s o
23 || complaint against defendant Longoria Parker (“Longoria”), Jonas Lowrance (“Lowrance”),
24 | Beso, LLC (“Beso” or the “Company”), and Doe and Roe Defendants and allege as follows
250 711
26 | /11
27 /1117
28 | /77




1 L
2 PARTIES
3 1. Plaintiffs, Longoria and Lowrance are members of Beso, a Nevada limited liability
4 | company conducting business in Clark County Nevada.
5 2. This lawsuit involves a series of transactions occurring in Clark County, Nevada.
6 3. Plaintiffs are unaware of the true names and capacities of Defendants named
7 | herein as Does 1 through 10 and Roes 11 through 20, and therefore sue such Defendants by said
g | fictitious names. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereupon allege that one or more of the
9 || Doe and/or Roe Defendants are responsible for the acts and/or omissions complained of herein.
10 | Plaintiffs will move to substitute the true names of said Doe and Roe Defendants upon discovery
11 I of same.
g 12 4. Upon information and belief, the Doe Defendants consist of a group of
g g% 13 | approximately six, middle-aged, Caucasian males who surrounded the Nachums on May 5, 2010
§§§§§§ 14 | at the Beso Las Vegas restaurant located at CityCenter, 3720 Las Vegas Boulevard South, #260,
g §§§§ 15 | Las Vegas, Nevada 89109 at approx_imately 3:00 p.m.
% g% 16 5. Upon information and belief, the Roe Defendants are the natural persons or legal
§ 17 | entities that employed or otherwise hired the Doe Defendants to provide services on behalf of the
18 | Roe Defendants.
19 6 Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that some of the acts set
20 I forth in this Verified Complaint alleged to have been done by any of the Defendants were
21 | authorized, approved, or ratified by each of the other Defendants.
22 7. The Eighth Judicial District Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this matter
23 | pursuant to Article 6, Section 6 of the Nevada State Constitution.
24 8. The Eighth Judicial District Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants
25 || pursuant to NRS 14.065.
2 | /77
27 1 /77
28 | /11




1 IL
2 GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
31 A. Beso’s Formation
4 9. In 2006, R. Nachum oversaw the construction of a restaurant in Hollywood,
5 | California called Beso (“Beso Hollywood”).
6 10.  The “face” of Beso Hollywood is Longoria.
7 11.  Due in part to R. Nachum’s skill and dedication, the construction of Beso
g [| Hollywood was successful.
9 12.  In January of 2009, Anthony Vicidomine (“Vicidomine™), one of the investors in
10 | Beso Hollywood, contacted R. Nachum and invited him to supervise and oversee the construction
11 | of a Beso restaurant in Las Vegas (“Beso Las Vegas”). After a meeting in Las Vegas between R.
E 12 | Nachum, Longoria, Lowrance and Vicidomine, R. Nachum agreed.
g 2% 13 13.  In March of 2009, Vicidomine executed a lease with The Crystals at CityCenter,
Eié%% 14 | LLC (“Crystais™) on behaif of Beso. Vicidomine executed the lease in his capacity as a co-
_‘fé 1 %ggé 15 | manager of ROK Management Group, LLC (“ROK?), which is the sole manager of Beso.
;)s‘-% é; 16 14.  In connection with the lease, Vicidomine also executed a lease guaranty in favor of
§ 17 | Crystals (the “Lease Guaranty™).
) 18 15 On or about April 1, 2009, the Nachums, Lowrance, Vicidomine, Longoria, and
19 | John Torregiani, Jr. (“Torregiani”), the original members of Beso, entered into the Beso
20 Operating Agreement (the “Beso Operating Agreement”).
21 16.  An authentic copy of the Beso Operating Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit
2L
73 17. Pursuant to the Beso Operating Agreement, Beso would own and operate Beso
a4 || Las Vegas and Eve The Nightclub.
25 18. The Beso Operating Agreement provides that the members and their respective
2% membership interests are set forth in Schedule “A” attached to the Beso Operating Agreement
27 and that Schedule A shall be amended from time to time to reflect any changes in the respective
28 interests of the members as required or permitted under the Beso Operating Agreement.
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1 19.  Under the Beso Operating Agreement, the Nachums received a 21% membership
2 || interest for services provided in connection with supervising the construction of Beso Las Vegas
3 | and Eve The Nightclub. (See Schedule A to Exhibit 1.)
4 20. Under the Beso Operating Agreement, Lowrance received a 24% membership
5 | interest in exchange for a capital contribution of $500,000 and for services provided.
6 21.  Under the Beso Operating Agreement, Vicidomine received a 24% membership
7 | interest in exchange for a capital contribution of $500,000 and for services provided.
8 22.  Under the Beso Operating Agreement, Longoria received a 9% membership
9 |l interest for “marketing and publicity services.”
10 23.  Under the Beso Operating Agreement, Torregiani received a 1% membership
) 11 | interest for “marketing, publicity and restaurant operational consulting services.”
g 12 24.  Under the Beso Operating Agreement, the Nachums, Lowrance and Vicidomine
g g% 13 | each had the right to an additional 3.5% membership interest in exchange for a $166,00.00
§§§§§§ 14 | payment or $166,000.00 Letter of Credit to the CityCenter Developer as and for the lease
g §§§§ 15 || security deposit for Beso Las Vegas. The Nachums, Lowrance and Vicidomine had until
% g% 16 | December 3, 2009 to provide the payment or letter of credit.
g 17 25. Before the payments/letters of credit were due, M. Nachum was able to obtain a
i8 | waiver from the CityCenter Developer waiving the lease security deposits in exchange for
19 | allowing Crystals to hold its grand opening party at Beso Las Vegas and Eve The Nightclub.
20 26. The Nachums, Lowrance and Vicidomine did not provide their $166,000
21 | payments or letters of credit to the CityCenter Developer.
22 27. The Beso Operating Agreement and subsequent amendments reflect that the
23 || Nachums, Lowrance and Vicidomine each had the right to a 3.5% membership interest, but the
24 | lease security payments were never made
25 28. The Beso Operating Agreement also allotted 10.5% to “Additional Members
26 I (TBD).” However, this 10.5% membership interest was never paid for by, or issued to, anyone.
27 29.  The 10.5% purportedly allotted to “Additional Members (TBD)” is non-existent
28 | and should not be calculated in determining the total percentage of membership interests
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outstanding.

30. For purposes of clarity in this Complaint, Plaintiffs will refer to interests in Beso
as “Units” and will refer to the ratio of the Units held by members to the total number of issued
Units as the percentage or %. For example, upon execution of the Beso Operating Agreement
and performance of the conditions to the issuance of Units as provided therein, only 79 Units
were held by the actual members of Beso (21 Units to the Nachums, 24 Units to Lowrance, 24
Units to Vicidomine, 9 Units to Longoria, and 1 Unit to Torregiani). These Units constituted

100% of the ownership of Beso.
B, The Beso Operating Agreement

31. Pursuant to the Beso Operating Agreement, ROK was appointed as Manager of
Beso. (See Exhibit 1 at §6.01.)
32. The Beso Operating Agreement provides that, except as otherwise provided in the
Beso Operating Agreement, an act of the members is effective if the majority of the members’
votes adopt the particular act at a meeting at which a majority of the members is present. ({
13.01).
33. The Beso Operating Agreement provides that the voting rights of the members
were distributed in the following manner: one vote per ownership percent. (] 13.01).
34. Since only 79 Units were held by the Beso members, any number of Units in
excess of 39.5 constituted a majority for voting purposes.
35. Pursuant to the Beso Operating Agreement, any action permitted to

the members may be taken without a meeting only if all of the members consent by signing a
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37. On or about July 2, 2008, the members of ROK entered into the Operating

Agreement of ROK (the “ROK Operating Agreement”).

o
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38. An authentic copy of the ROK Operating Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit

39. The original members of ROK were Lowrance and Vicidomine.

40. The original managers of ROK were Lowrance and Vicidomine.

41. The ROK Operating Agreement provides that the signature of all managers of
ROK is required to bind ROK to any agreement or on any document or instrument. ( 6.6).

42. The ROK Operating Agreement provides that the unanimous vote of the members

of ROK is required to elect managers and to remove or replace managers. (f6.16, 6.17).

ROK which he then held as a manager and member of ROK.

44. M. Nachum replaced Vicidomine as a member and manager of ROK on July 30,
2009.

45. ROK was to be compensated in an amount equal to 5% of Beso Las Vegas and
Eve The Nightclub’s gross revenues.

46. In addition, ROK was part of the gratuity distribution system in Eve The
Nightclub. Under Eve The Nightclub’s gratuity distribution system, ROK was entitled to 3% of
all gratuities.

47.  The General Manager of Eve The Nightclub was responsible for dividing the tips
and distributing the cash to those persons involved in the gratuity distribution system.

- NN --1

48.  According to the Beso Operating Agreemer

t, ROK could only be removed as
manager of Beso by a majority vote of the Beso members or the unanimous written consent of

Al TV PR I
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D. The Beso Members’ Initial Capital Contributions and Loans

49. Onor

loaned Beso $100,000 to help fund preconstruction costs (the “April 6 Loans™).
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loaned to Baz Construction. Baz Construction in turn was instructed to use the $400,000 (which
was now essentially Beso’s money since Lowrance repaid himself out of Beso’s account) to pay
certain Beso construction costs directly.

51. Baz Construction used all but $160,000 of Lowrance’s $400,000 loan to pay for
certain construction costs. Consequently, on or about July 13, 2009, Baz Construction provided
M. Nachum with a $160,000 cashier’s check to return to Beso. On or about July 15, 2009, M.
Nachum deposited a $300,000 cashier’s check into the Valley Construction Services construction
escrow account. The $300,000 deposit consisted of the $160,000 from Baz Construction and

$140.000 of the Nachums’ own funds lent to Beso for construction.

LLP.
LAW OFFICES
3883 HOWARD HUGHES PARKWAY, SUITE 1100
(702)784-5200

Snell & Wilmer

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89169

4

52.  On or about July 10, 2009, the Nachums loaned $300,000 to Lowrance so that
Lowrance could make his initial capital contribution of $500,000 (the “July 10 Loan™). On or
about this same time, Lowrance, using $200,000 of his own funds and the $300,000 loan from
the Nachums, made his initial capital contribution in the amount of $500,000.

53.  On or about July 17, 2009, Vicidomine made his initial capital contribution of
$500,000.

54.  On or about July 17, 2009, Lowrance provided M. Nachum a check from Beso in

the amount of $500,000 to pay back the Nachums’ April 6 Loan to Beso and July 10 loan to

57. As of July 31, 2009, the total amount due and owing to the Nachums from Beso
for money lent was $630,000 ($140,000 plus $490,000).
58. Sometime in October 2009, the Nachums were repaid $350,000 of the $630,000

in money lent. This was the last loan repayment the Nachums received.

59.  Accordingly, Beso still owes the Nachums $280,000.

-7-




1 60. During the construction process and initially for operations R. Nachum used his
2 | personal American Express credit cards as corporate credit cards to pay Beso expenses in the
3 | amount of approximately $400,000. Some or all of the expenses were reimbursed to the
4 || Nachums or were directly paid to American Express.
5 || E. Beio Pu'r"cl':ases Vicidomine’s Membership Interests and the Operating Agreement
) is Amended
7 61.  On or about July 30, 2009, Beso entered into a Membership Purchase Agreement
g [| with Vicidomine wherein Beso agreed to purchase 22 Units of Vicidomine’s membership
g | interests.
10 62. Beso performed all of the conditions to the transfer of such Units to Beso.
11 63.  As of July 30, 2009, Beso held 22 Units of membership interest in itself.
; 12 64.  An authentic copy of the Membership Purchase Agreement is attached hereto as
—g mg—%o 13 | Exhibit3,
E‘ : %ggg 14 65. Under the Membership Purchase Agreement, Vicidomine retained 2 Units of
g §§§§ 15 | membership interest in Beso.
c%) g; 16 66. In conjunction with the Membership Purchase Agreement, Lowrance, R. Nachum
2 17 | and M. Nachum executed an Indemnification Agreement holding Vicidomine harmless for any
) 18 || Vviolation of the Lease Guaranty
19 67.  On or about July 30, 2009, all members of Beso executed the First Amendment to
20 1 the Beso Operating Agreement (“First Amendment”)
21 68.  An authentic copy of the First Amendment is attached hereto as Exhibit 4.
22 69.  The First Amendment amended Section 19.10 of the Beso Operating Agreement
23 | to permit amendments to the Beso Operating Agreement by a majority vote of the membership
24 I 1interests
25 70. The First Amendment did not amend the provision of the Beso Operating
26 | Agreement which provides that any action permitted to be taken by the members may be taken
27 || without a meeting only if all of the members consent by signing a written approval of the action.
2¢ | (7 14.01).




1 71.  The First Amendment also purported to amend the Beso Operating Agreement
2 || and Schedule A thereof, as required under Section 3.01 of the Beso Operating Agreement, to
3 || give effect to Beso’s purchase of 22 Units from Vicidomine.
4 72.  The First Amendment, however, contained a mathematical error in the calculation
5 [ of the members’ respective membership interests in Beso.
6 73.  Pursuant to the First Amendment, the members’ membership interests were as
7 | follows: Lowrance: 27.5% (27.5 Units); Vicidomine: 2% (2 Units); Nachums: 24.5% (24.5
g [| Units); Longoria: 9% (9 Units); Torregiani: 1% (1 Unit); Additional Members (TBD): 36% (36
9 [ Units).
10 74. In reality, the membership interests were as foliows: Lowrance: 24 Units;
11 Vicidomine: 2 Units; Nachums: 21 Units; Longoria: 9 Units; Torregiani: 1 Unit; and Beso, LLC:
g 12 | 22 Units.'
g zg 13 75. At this point, 79 units made up 100% of Beso’s ownership. As a result, any
§ . é%g% 14 | action of the Beso members by a majority vote would require more than 39.5 Units
f f %g%é 151 F The Second Amendment to the Beso Operating Agreement
g éz 16 76 On or about August 19, 2009, Lowrance, the Nachums and Beso (via ROK, its
§ 17 | Manager) executed a Second Amendment to the Beso Operating Agreement. (the “Second
) ig I Amendment”).
19 77 authentic copy of the Second Amendment is attached hereto as Exhibit 5
20 78. The Second Amendment, by its terms stated that the members’ membership
o1 || interests were modified as follows: Lowrance: 39%; M. Nachum®: 39%; Longoria: 9%;
72 I Vicidomine: 2%; Torregiani: 1%; and Additional Members (TBD): 10%.
23 79. The Second Amendment was not approved by a majority vote of the members
24 upon a duly noticed meeting and was not approved by a written consent of all members, which
25 were the only means of amending the Beso Operating Agreement as provided in the Beso
26 Operating Agreement (as amended by the First Amendment).
27 ! The 3.5% membership interests noted in the Beso Operating Agreement were never distributed to the
Nachums Lowrance and Vicidomine because the $166,000 payments/letters of credit were never made.
8 R lI‘\Iai‘,l’:l’l\n;\l ‘trarrls’f"srf'id hli shir‘enﬂfthe membership interests previously held by both R. Nachum and M.

vuuux LU 1vi, 1NaAwviiulll, xu\.uvnuuau_y




1 80. The Second Amendment purports to modify the members’ respective membership
) interests to reflect additional capital contributions and services rendered by some members
3 other than on a pro rata basis pursuant to section 3.03 of the Beso Operating Agreement.
4 81. Upon information and belief, however, Lowrance did not make any additional
5 capital contributions.
6 82. Although the Nachums deposited additional funds into the Valley Construction
7 Services construction escrow account between the execution of the First Amendment and the
8 Second Amendment, this deposit was in the form of a loan, not a capital contribution.
9 83. On information and belief, no additional capital contributions were made after the
10 execution of the First Amendment.
11 84. Under the Beso Operating Agreement, additional services rendered cannot
S 12 constitute a capital contribution subsequent to the initial capital contribution.
g 22 13 85. The Second Amendment purports to transfer the 3.5 Units allotted to Vicidomine
§ ! g%g% 14 for payment of the $166,000 lease security deposit to Lowrance and Nachum even though the
fj%gé 15 3.5 Units had been eliminated — i.e. were never issued and outstanding. In other words, it
— | S338
% éz 16 purported to transfer a membership interest that did not exist.
§ 17 86. The Second Amendment purports to transfer Beso’s 22 Units that it purchased
" 18 from Vicidomine to the Nachums and Lowrance, even though neither Lowrance nor the
19 Nachums purchased the Units from Beso
20 87. The Second Amendment purports to transfer 0.5 Units of membership interest to
21 Lowrance and the Nachums, which was never issued and outstanding — i.e. to transfer 0.5 Units
22 from the “Future Members (TBD)” 10.5 Units set forth in Schedule A of the Beso Operating
23 Agreement.
24 88. For the foregoing reasons, the Second Amendment was not validly adopted and
25 has no force or effect. The Second Amendment is also inaccurate.
26 89. Following execution of the Second Amendment, the membership interests of Beso
27 remained as follows: Lowrance: 24 Units; Vicidomine: 2 Units; Nachums: 21 Units; Longoria:
78 9 Units; Torregiani: 1 Unit; and Beso: 22 Units. These 79 Units continued to constitute 100%
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1 of Beso’s ownership.
2| G. The Third Amendment to the Beso Operating Agreement
3 90. On or about December 1, 2010, Lowrance, the Nachums and Beso (by ROK, its
4 Manager) executed a Third Amendment to the Beso Operating Agreement (the “Third
5 Amendment”).
6 91. An authentic copy of the Third Amendment is attached hereto as Exhibit 6.
7 92. The Third Amendment by its terms stated that the members’ membership interests
8 were modified as follows: Lowrance: 44%; M. Nachum: 44%; Longoria: 9%; Vicidomine: 2%;
9 1 —and Torregiani: 1%:
10 93. The Third Amendment was not approved by a majority vote of the members upon
. 11 a duly noticed meeting and was not approved by a written consent of all members, which were
. é 12 the only means of amending the Beso Operating Agreement as provided in the Beso Operating
jgj mé"%o 13 Agreement (as amended by the First Amendment).
3 - %ggg 14 94. The Third Amendment was not validly adopted and has no force or effect.
g §§§§ 15 Following execution of the Third- Amendment, the membership interests of Beso remained as
(% g;" 16 follows: Lowrance: 24 Units; Vicidomine: 2 Units; Nachums: 21 Units; Longoria: 9 Units;-
g 17 Torregiani: 1 Unit; and Beso: 22 Units. These 79 Units continued to constitute 100% of Beso’s
18 ownership.
19 | H. Longoria’s Loan to Beso
20 95. Notwithstanding the members’ various capital contributions and loans, by
21 | October of 2009, the Beso accounts were again depleted.
22 96. On or about October 26, 2009, R. Nachum notified Longoria that he had been
23 | working “24/7” to meet the opening deadline, but he did not have sufficient funds to cover the
24 1 preopening costs.
25 97.  R. Nachum wrote to Longoria, “As you know, for the past 8 weeks we are paying
26 || operational expenses with the construction funds. This caused us to face some cash flow
27 | challenges.”
28 98. Subsequently, Longoria and Beso entered into a Loan Agreement (“Longoria Loan




1 | Agreement”) wherein Longoria agreed to loan Beso $1,000,000.
2 99.  An authentic copy of the Longoria Loan Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit
31 7
4 100. Under the Longoria Loan Agreement, Beso agreed to repay Longoria’s loan within
5 || two years at a rate of 8% per annum.
6 101.  As further purported consideration for her loan, however, Longoria demanded tﬁat
7 | she be given an additional 23.33% membership interest in Beso making her a 32.33% owner.
8 | (See Exhibit 7 at 96.)
9 102. Longoria wanted her loan to be both a loan and a capital contribution because she
10 | wanted to be repaid with interest and also wanted 23 additional membership Units without
11 || contributing any additional capital.
E 12 103.  This provision of the Longoria Loan Agreement was a direct violation of the Beso
g g% 13 | Operating Agreement, which expressly states that “loans by any member of the Company shall
Eﬁ g%gg 14 | not be treated as capital contributions to the Company.” (See Exhibit 1 at §3.04.)
g | %ggg 15 104. The Beso Operating Agreement was not amended to allow Longoria’s loan to be
3.:.‘; éz i6 treated as a capital contribution and was not amended to give effect to the purporied grant of
o
g 17 23.3 Units to Longoria by amending Schedule A, as required under Section 3.01 of the Beso
18 Operating Agreement
19 105. For the foregoing reasons, the purported agreement to grant Longoria additional
20 Units as stated in the Longoria Loan Agreement was not validly adopted and approved by Beso
21 and has no force or effect.
oY) 106. Following execution of the Longoria Loan Agreement, the membership interests
23 of Beso remained as follows: Lowrance: 24 Units; Vicidomine: 2 Units; Nachums: 21 Units;
24 Longoria: 9 Units; Torregiani: 1 Unit; and Beso: 22 Units. These 79 Units continued to
25 constitute 100% of Beso’s ownership.
2 I I Beso Opens for Business
27 107.  On or about December 3, 2009, Beso Las Vegas opened for business and hosted
28 || Crystals’ grand opening party.

-12-



1 108. Beso Las Vegas opened on time, as promised by the Nachums, due to R.
5 | Nachum’s supervision and dedication to the construction process.
3 109. Eve The Nightclub opened on December 30, 2009.
4 110.  After Crystals’ grand opening party, the Nachums received numerous e-mails from
5 || various individuals at CityCenter congratulating the Beso team for the job théy had done in
6 | building Beso.
7 111.  Authentic copies of the congratulatory e-mails are attached hereto as Exhibit 8.
8 112. Shortly thereafter, however, Beso Las Vegas/Eve The Nightclub’s director of
9 | operations resigned.
10 113. The operation of Beso Las Vegas and Eve The Nightclub were assumed by
11 | Lowrance and the Nachums.
g 12 114. The Nachums worked tirelessly to teach themselves the nightciub business to fill
g 2% 13 | the void left by the previous director.
Ezéggé 14 115. On or about December 12, 2010, Beso’s accountant, Nicole, who was hired by
g 1 %g%g 15 | Lowrance, notified Lowrance and the Nachums that Beso did not have sufficient funds to make
% é;“ 16 I its first payroll. As a result, the Nachums were forced to take out a personal hard money loan for
% 17 | $100,000 to support Beso’s payroll.
: 18 116. Beso subsequently repaid the Nachums with $10,000 in interest, which was the
19 | amount the Nachums had to repay their hard money lender for the loan.
20 117.  Around this same time, Nicole resigned for personal reasons unrelated to her
71 | employment at Beso
22 118. Lowrance hired a Los Angeles based controller, James, to take care of Beso’s
23 || accounting and controls, and to supervise Nicole’s assistant Tara.
24 119. Lowrance told James that he would have to work on “cleaning up the mess the
95 | other accountant left behind.”
26 120. Subsequently, the operator of Eve The Nightclub resigned.
27 121.  Upon the resignation of Eve The Nightclub’s operator, the Nachums discovered
78 || that he had run up an approximately $400,000 debt to Beso’s liquor supplier, which threatened
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Eve The Nightclub’s viability as a going concern because the supplier could “cut off” sales of
liquor if Beso did not pay its outstanding balance.

122. Beso’s liquor debt was also alarming because M. Nachum had signed a personal
guaranty in favor of Beso’s liquor supplier (and most of Beso’s other vendors) guaranteeing
payment of Beso’s orders.

123. R. Nachum was able to work out a payment plan to repay Beso’s liquor debt while
still being able to make new orders to operate the business.

124. In addition to the employees who resigned, various employees were fired for,

among other things, suspicion of stealing.

125. After a few months, James was still not caught up on crucial accounting needs
including the preparation of Beso’s taxes, P&L’s and reporting to all members.

126. On or about March 14, 2010, R. Nachum found Lowrance, James and Lowrance’s
father, Harry, at the Beso corporate office working on the accounting computer at night. When R.
Nachum asked to see the P&L they were working on, he was told that they would show it to him
the next day.

127. On or about March 15, 2010, after months of working on the report, the Nachums,

Lowrance, Harry and James had a meeting to review the Company P&L’s. The Nachums noticed

Company. Upon information and belief, Tara recently hired a local CPA to assist with Beso’s
accounting.

129. The Nachums continued to work very long hours to ensure that Beso Las Vegas’
kitchen was in compliance with all health code requirements after learning that a health
inspection resulted in Beso Las Vegas receiving an unsatisfactory grade.

130. The Nachums were very demanding on the kitchen staff in this regard and, to
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1 | ensure the highest level of compliance with health and food safety requirements, Beso hired a
2 | health and food safety expert consultant to assist in this endeavor.
3 131. The Nachums’ insistence on perfection resulted in animosity by some of the Beso
4 | staff toward the Nachums.
5 132. Meanwhile Longoria was applauding and complimenting the Nachums and
6 | Lowrance making statements such as “Great job you guys!”, “Unbelievable!”, “Thanks for all
7 | your hard work!”, “That’s great!” and “Congrats on making it such a successful night!”.
8 133. During this same time period, the Nachums were participating in meetings with
g | CityCenter executives regarding lease issues, dealing with mechanics’ liens, implementing new
10 | software designed to curb theft amongst employees, working on liquor licensing issues, and
11 | taking care of a host of other responsibilities such as quality of service, maintenance, public
E 12 | relations and marketing, and Eve The Nightclub events.
g gg 13 134.  On April 12, 2010, Lowrance wrote M. Nachum an e-mail stating “I acknowledge
§ jéggg 14 | the fact that you work tirelessiy on behalf of Beso/Eve and make a sacrifice that impacts your
g | %ggg 15 || children. Please trust my loyalty and commitment is equal when it comes to our venture. We all
% ég 16 | have a lot at stake . . . we are all equally invested financially and you and Ronen and tireiess
g 17 | workers as my partners . . ..”
i 18 135.  An authentic copy of the April 12, 2010 e-mail is attached hereto as Exhibit 9
19 136. Notwithstanding Lowrance’s acknowledgements, on or about April 22, 2010, an e-
20 | mail signed by “The Staff at Beso and Eve the Nightclub” was sent to Longoria containing a list
21 || of complaints about the Nachums.
22 137.  Upon information and belief, an authentic copy of the April 22, 2010 e-mail is
23 || attached hereto as Exhibit 10.
24 138. The April 22, 2010 email falsely insinuated that R. Nachum was stealing cash
25 | from the Company and claimed that R. Nachum was acting like a “tyrant”. The e-mail also made
726 | comments with racial undertones asserting that M. Nachum was booking “ghetto events”
27 || (referring to the performances of Afriéan American pop artists such as P Diddy, Trey Songz,
28 | Kelis and Soulja Boy) that scare off the high end customers in the nightclub.
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1 139. No one discussed the allegations in the email with the Nachums.
2 140.  On information and belief, once Longoria received the April 22, 2010 e-mail, she
3 || and Lowrance planned and began to take steps to oust M. Nachum from management and divest
4 | her of her rights and interest in Beso without even confirming whether the allegations were true.
5 141. The Nachums found out about the April 22, 2010 e-mail weeks later from a third
6 | party.
71 J- Lowrance Files for a Sham Temporary Protective Order Against R. Nachum
8 142.  As part of Longoria and Lowrance’s plan, on or about May 3, 2010, Lowrance
o || signed an Application for Order for Protection Against Stalking, Aggravated Stalking, or
10 | Harassment pursuant to NRS 200.591 (“Application for TPO”) against R. Nachum.
11 143. A file-stamped copy of Lowrance’s Application for TPO is attached hereto as
é 12 | Exhibit 11
g ‘zg 13 144. On or about May 4, 2010, Lowrance signed an affidavit in support of his
§ | é%éﬁ 14 | Application for TPO (“TPO Affidavit”) and then filed his Application with the Justice Court, Las
g ; %ggé 15 || Vegas Township, Clark County Nevada. (See Exhibit 11.)
g éz 16 145. Lowrance’s Application for TPO states that he was “repeatedly put in fear of the
§ 17 | immediate threat of harm to my person and property interest at Beso” and that R. Nachum’s
" 18 || presence put his “physical and mental safety at grave risk.”
19 146. Lowrance’s Application for TPO, however, failed to describe any acts or threats R.
2¢ I Nachum made to him causing Lowrance’s alleged fear of “immediate threat of harm.”
21 147. Lowrance’s Application for TPO also alleges that for “the past several months” R.
77 I Nachum has engaged in “chronic and persistent efforts to usurp operational functions in the
03 | restaurant and nightclub.”
24 148.  This allegation is belied by Lowrance and Longoria’s conduct and a host of e-mail
75 | communications from Longoria and Lowrance and numerous other third parties.
26 149. Lowrance, Longoria and M. Nachum directed and authorized R. Nachum to act on
o7 | behalf of the Company, invited him to Beso meetings, and consulted with him regarding Beso
28
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1 | operations. Longoria, Lowrance and M. Nachum cloaked R. Nachum with actual or apparent
2 || authority to act on behalf of Beso.
3 150. Lowrance’s allegation that R. Nachum was trying to “usurp operational functions”
4 | is also belied by Lowrance’s April 12, 2010 e-mail to M. Nachum — sent just weeks earlier —
5 | wherein he stated that “we are all equally invested financially and you and Ronen are tireless
6 | workers as my partners[.]” (See Exhibit9.)
7 151. Lowrance’s Application for TPO requested that R. Nachum be prohibited from
8 | entering Beso Las Vegas, Eve The Nightclub and Beso’s corporate office.
9 152, Lowrance’s Application for TPQO also requested that R. Nachum be restrained
10 | from approaching him or being within 500 yards of his personal presence or residence.
) 11 153. Lowrance’s conduct on May 3 and 4, 2010 (and the months preceding the
g 12 | application) contradict the representations in his Application for TPO.
g g% 13 154. On May 3, 2010, the day Lowrance executed his Application for TPO, Jonas and
§ . é%%é 14 | R. Nachum had a meeting at Beso’s corporate office to discuss Beso business. Later that night,
g ) §§§§ 15 | Lowrance called R. Nachum and revealed to him that he received a strange phone call from Eva’s
;‘—:‘: g; 16 | attorney asking unusual questions about Lowrance’s past.
g 17 155. On May 4, 2010, Lowrance, R. Nachum, M. Nachum and Vicidomine had a
18 | meeting with Beso’s attorney and Vicidomine’s attorney regarding a loan repayment arrangement
19 | with Vicidomine in connection with the membership interest Beso purchased from Vicidomine.
20 156. The Nachums traveled to the May 4, 2010 meeting in the same car
21 157. After the May 4, 2010 meeting was over, M. Nachum returned to Summerlin in the
22 i Nachums’ car and Lowrance gave R. Nachum a ride in his car to Beso’s corporate office. There
23 || were no other individuals in the car.
24 158. In the evening of May 4, 2010, R. Nachum and Lowrance met at Beso Las Vegas.
25 | Lowrance and R. Nachum both went to the small room where the safe is kept and took out cash
26 Il representing the 3% gratuity due to ROK from the P-Diddy event, which Eve The Nightclub’s
27 | manager had previously put in the safe.
28
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1 159. Lowrance and R. Nachum then had dinner together at Beso Las Vegas and
2 | discussed potential changes in personnel.
3 160. After dinner, Lowrance gave R. Nachum the keys to the car he was driving so that
4 | R. Nachum could drive home. About an hour later, Lowrance and R. Nachum held a conference
5 | call with a potential employee.
6 161. At no point did Lowrance exhibit signs of fear or trepidation in R. Nachum’s
7 | presence.
8 162. Lowrance’s Application for TPO also contains numerous erroneous facts, which
9 I include the following
10 a. Lowrance states that he is, “for all practical purposes, the member in
) 11 charge of restaurant and nightclub operations.” Beso is managed by ROK.
§ 12 Lowrance is only a 50% member and manager of ROK. M. Nachum is the
g ;% 13 other 50% member and manager of ROK. Thus, Lowrance and M.
§ : gé%g 14 Nachum are both in charge of Beso’s restaurant and nightclub operations.
g §§§ § 15 Indeed, under the ROK Operating Agreement, ROK cannot act unless there
c%) gim‘; 16 is unanimous consent between the managers.
; 17 b. Lowrance states that over the last several months R. Nachum “has engaged
i8 in chronic and persistent efforts to usurp operational functions in the
19 restaurant and nightclub.” This is not true. Lowrance and M. Nachum, and
20 even Longoria on occasion, included R. Nachum in management and
21 operational decisions, and directed R. Nachum to take actions on behalf of|
22 the Company. Indeed, Lowrance and Longoria referred to R. Nachum as
23 their “partner.”
24 c. Lowrance states that R. Nachum punched a female patron in the face and
25 assaulted a food server. These statements are patently false.
26 d. Lowrance states that he has no relationship with R. Nachum. This is false.
27 Lowrance and R. Nachum worked together closely for over a year.
28 Lowrance referred to R. Nachum as his partner and acknowledged that he
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1 was equally invested in the Company. The Nachums also permitted
2 Lowrance to drive their cars for over a year® and had Lowrance over for
3 dinner in their home on several occasions including birthdays and holidays.
4 R. Nachum and Lowrance traveled to Los Angeles together and shared a|
5 hotel room in Los Angeles.
6 e. Lowrance represented that he never lived with R. Nachum. To the
7 contrary, Lowrance and R. Nachum shared an apartment at Panorama for
8 approximately three months in 2009 during the initial stages of]
9 construction of Beso.
10 163. Lowrance filed his Application for TPO ex-parte so that R. Nachum did not have
) 11 | an opportunity to respond to the allegations.
g 12 164. On or about May 5, 2010, based on Lowrance’s representations, the Justice Court
g ;% 13 || issued a Temporary Order for Protection Against Stalking and Harassment (“TPQ”) against R.
Eg%%é 14 | Nachum without a holding a hearing. As a result, R. Nachum was unable to challenge the
% §§§§ 15 | Application for TPO.
- Qi
) gﬁ 16 | K. Longoria and Lowrance Attempt to Take Over Beso
§ 17 165. On or about May 2, 2010, M. Nachum received an e-mail from Longoria’s
18 | accountant, Bill Braden, requesting accounting reports by the next day.
19 166. M. Nachum responded that Mr. Braden should contact Beso’s accountant for the
20 | records because M. Nachum does not handie accounting.
21 167. On May 3, 2010, Longoria and Mr. Braden called M. Nachum raising a number of
22 | rumors and accusations regarding R. Nachum’s conduct
23 168. M. Nachum was shocked by the questions and insisted that Lowrance and R.
24 | Nachum be involved in a conference call to address the rumors
25
26 | s From Aprii 2009 to May 2010, the M. Nachum paid the ieases for two vehicies, which Lowrance and R.
27 Nachum used for Company purposes during construction and operations. Lowrance anq M Nachum
agreed that Beso would reimburse M. Nachum for the use of these two vehicles. In addition, once M.
8 Nachurfl_ E“f}’f‘f t? Eas V?ig:as -Beso also reimbursed her car expenses. ROK authorized the

i‘cuuuux SCIMCILS I0r all tnree venicices.
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1 169. Subsequently, the Nachums wrote Longoria and Mr. Braden an email requesting
2 || that the members hold a conference call immediately. Longoria responded: “I don’t know what
3 | the fuss is, I had questions and asked. We will talk tomorrow. I’ll be on a flight in the am.”
4 170. The Nachums wrote Longoria back stating that they were offended by the
5 | accusations and lack of trust between the members and invited Mr. Braden to inspect Beso’s
6 | accounting personally.
7 171. The next day, May 4, 2010, Mr. Braden sent an e-mail to M. Nachum and
8 | Lowrance requesting that they participate in a meeting on May 5, 2010 “to go over several
9 | issues.”
10 172.  Mr. Braden specifically requested that the meeting take place at Beso Las Vegas.
) 11 173.  Mr. Braden did not invite R. Nachum even though M. Nachum specifically
g 12 | requested on May 3, 2010, that Lowrance, Longoria, M. Nachum and R. Nachum have a meeting
g m;% 13 || to discuss the accusations regarding R. Nachum.
§ . %g%g 14 174. M. Nachum responded to Mr. Braden’s e-mail inquiring as to why R. Nachum was
g Eggé 15 | excluded from the meeting and stating that she would not participate in the meeting without R.
% %2’ 16 | Nachum.
g 17 175. Later in the morning on May 4, 2010, Longoria replied to M. Nachum’s e-mail
18 || stating that R. Nachum was weicome to attend the May 5, 2010 meeting and representing that the
19 | purpose of the meeting was “to discuss where my money is . . . I need to know where my
20 | investmentis. Very simple really.”
21 176. On May 5, 2010, the Nachums showed up at Beso Las Vegas for their meeting
22 | with Mr. Braden
23 177. Lowrance was present at the restaurant talking on his phone.
24 178. While the Nachums were waiting for the meeting to start, a group of
25 | approximately six large men identified herein as the Doe Defendants, one with a video camera,
26 | approached the Nachums and surrounded them.
27 {117
28 | /17
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179.  One of the men served R. Nachum with Lowrance’s TPO and then proceeded to
read the Nachums a trespass notice purportedly issued under Nevada Revised Statutes (“NRS™)
207.200.

180.  An authentic copy of the trespass notice is attached hereto as Exhibit 12.

181.  The trespass notice prohibited the Nachums from entering Beso Las Vegas, Eve
The Nightclub and Beso’s corporate offices. A

182.  The men threatened the Nachums that if they violated the trespass notice, they

would be arrested immediately.

184.  This occurred in front of various Beso Las Vegas and Eve The Nightclub

employees and managers.

185.  The Nachums left Beso Las Vegas with apprehension that they would be arrested
or harmed if they did not leave.

186. That same day, the Nachums were blocked from accessing their Beso e-mail
accounts and R. Nachum’s cell phone was disconnected thereby isolating the Nachums from
Beso.

187. Longoria, through her agent Mr. Braden, and Lowrance lured the Nachums to
Beso Las Vegas so that they could serve Lowrance’s TPO and the trespass notice on them.

188.  The service of Lowrance’s TPO and the trespass notice was intended to, among
other things, intimidate and humiliate the Nachums in front of Beso staff.

189.  Mr. Braden intentionally scheduled the May 5, 2010 meeting at Beso Las Vegas
even though all of the books and records Mr. Braden wanted to see were at Beso’s corporate

office. Even though the purpose of the May 5, 2010 meeting was to discuss Beso’s finances and

1 1 an’a mananm t:m oAlcsan 0 a1
accounting, Mr. Braden did not invite Tara, Beso’s person in charge of accounting, to the
meeting

190. The trespass notice was improper because M. Nachum was a co-Manager and

member of ROK, the manager of Beso, and did not approve the trespass notice.

/11
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1 191. Under the ROK Operating Agreement, there must be unanimous consent among
2 | the managers to act. Even if Lowrance approved the trespass notice, M. Nachum did not approve
3 | it. There was no authority to issue the trespass notice.
4 192.  The trespass notice was also improper because M. Nachum was not a “guest” as
5 | that term is defined in NRS 200.207, but was, and still remains, an authorized manager of Beso
6 | pursuant to the Beso and ROK Operating Agreements.
7 193.  Since the Nachums were issued the trespass notice, Lowrance and Longoria have
8 | refused to communicate with the Nachums.
9 194.  Upon information and belief, employees hired by the Nachums have been fired
10 | without cause.
) 11 195.  Upon information and belief, employees were told that if they communicated with
g 12 | the Nachums they would be fired.
g g% 13 196.  Upon information and belief, Longoria and Lowrance have hired a private security
gggggg 14 | company to monitor all Beso Las Vegas and Eve The Nightclub employees.
g %ggé 15 197.  Longoria and Lowrance have also changed the locks at Beso Las Vegas, Eve The
(% g% 16 | Nightciub and Beso’s corporate office.
2 17 || L. Longoria and Lowrance Attempt to Remove ROK as Manager of Beso
18 198.  On or about May 7, 2010, (after the purported issuance of the trespass notice),
19 | Longoria and Lowrance attempted to remove ROK as the manager of Beso by filing an Annual
20 } List of Managers or Managing Members with the Nevada Secretary of State stating that
21 | Lowrance was the sole manager of Beso.
22 199.  Appointing Lowrance as the sole manager of Beso without holding a meeting of|
23 | the members of Beso to approve the action violated the Beso Operating Agreement and therefore
24 | Lowrance’s appointment is invalid.
25 200. Lowrance’s appointment as sole manager is also invalid because Lowrance and
26 | Longoria did not have a majority of votes from the members to replace ROK.
27 201.  ROK is still the manager of Beso and M. Nachum remains a manager and member
28 | of ROK.
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1 202. The filing of an untrue Annual List with the Nevada Secretary of State was a
2 [ violation of Nevada law, NRS Section 84.263.
31 M. The Nachums Try to Communicate with Longoria and Lowrance
4 203. After receiving service of the TPO and trespass notice, the Nachums reached out
5 | on multiple occasions to Longoria and Lowrance to discuss what was happening.
6 204. Longoria and Lowrance ignored the Nachums’ requests to communicate.
7 205. Lowrance, however, via a third party, relayed a message to the Nachums that he
8 | was under extreme pressure from Longoria and her agents and would try to handle the situation.
9 206. On or about May 13, 2010, M. Nachum, through counsel, sent a letter to Beso’s
10 | registered agent asserting her right to inspect Beso’s books and records under the Beso Operating
) 11 | Agreement and Chapter 86 of the NRS.
g 12 207. M. Nachum wanted to have copies of all of Beso’s books and records so that she
E ;% 13 | could, among other things, defend herself against the accusations and rumors raised in the April
§ : g%%é 14 | 22, 2010 email from the “Beso Staff” and during her phone conversation with Longoria and Mr.
g Egéé 15 | Braden on May 2, 2010.
(% gg 16 208. M. Nachum also had growing concerns about the state of the Company because
g 17 | she had been excluded from all decisions since being trespassed on May 5, 2010.
18 209. M. Nachum also wanted access to Beso’s books and records so that she could
19 | properly notify Beso’s vendors that she would not personally guarantee any purchase orders not
20 | specifically signed and authorized by her.
21 210. M. Nachum advised Beso’s registered agent that she intended to appear at Beso’s
22 | corporate office on May 21, 2010 at 9:00 a.m. with her duly authorized representative to conduct
23 | her examination as permitted by the Beso Operating Agreement and Chapter 86 of the NRS
24 211, At 6:24 p.m. on May 20, 2010, the night before M. Nachum was going to inspect
25 | Beso’s books and records, Beso’s registered agent sent the Nachums® attorney a letter stating that
26 | Beso was conducting an “emergency forensic audit and legal review of the Company.”
27 ) /71
28 || /11
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1 212.  Notwithstanding the Beso Operating Agreement, the First Amendment and the
2 | history between the members of Beso, the May 20th letter questioned M. Nachum’s ownership
3 | interest in Beso.
4 213.  The May 20" letter further represented that the “total and complete collapse of the
5 | Company” remains a “real possibility” given the information being discovered on a daily basis.
6 214.  Curiously, the letter blames M. Nachum for mismanaging Beso despite the fact
7 || that Lowrance represented in his Application for TPO he is the person in charge of Beso’s
8 || restaurant and nightclub operations.
9 215.  On May 21, 2010, a Friday, M. Nachum and her accountant appeared at Beso’s
10 | corporate office at 9:00 a.m. as set forth in the May 13, 2010 letter referred to above.
) 11 216. Notwithstanding proper notice to inspect, Beso’s office was closed and locked
g 12 | precluding M. Nachum from inspecting the records.
g g% 13 217. Beso’s refusal to allow M. Nachum access to Beso’s books and records is a
§5 é%gg 14 | violation of Nevada law and the Beso Operating Agreement since M. Nachum is a member of
g | §§§§ 15 | Beso and a member and manager of ROK.
;)"3‘ g% 16 | N Longoria and Lowrance Mak Nachums a Scapegoat
§ 17 218. On or about May 17, 2010, the Nachums, through counsel, notified Beso’s
18 | registered agent of various issues regarding outstanding mechanics liens related to the
19 | construction of Beso Las Vegas and Eve The Nightclub. The letter encouraged Beso’s registered
20 1 agent to address the issues immediately to avoid any potential adverse legal actions being taken
21 | against Beso.
22 219. On May 18, 2010, Beso’s registered agent responded in a letter de clining to
23 | address the mechanics lien issues claiming that Beso’s “checkbook has never been reconciled and
24 | balanced since the Company’s inception and the financial and corporate records are in a state of
25 | complete and utter disarray[.]”
26 220.  The letter also stated that the Company was in jeopardy and blamed M. Nachum
27 | for all of its problems.
28
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1 221. Beso’s May 18,2010 and May 20, 2010 letters are attempts to make the Nachums
2 | scapegoats.
3 222. M. Nachum was not part of Beso management at the Company’s inception.
4 223.  Lowrance and Vicidomine were the original managers of ROK, and acted in that
5 | capacity for months before M. Nachum replaced Vicidomine as co-manager of ROK.
6 224.  Longoria and Lowrance, however, seek to blame M. Nachum for the purported
7 | fact that the Company’s checkbook has never been reconciled and balanced since the Company’s
8 | inception.
9 225. The letters ignore the fact that, as stated in Lowrance’s Application for TPO,
10 | Lowrance — not M. Nachum — was for all practical purposes in charge of operating the restaurant
) 11 | and nightclub. |
g 12 226. The letters disregard the fact that Lowrance is the only person who has been
g g% 13 || involved in Beso’s management since its inception.
§ ; g%gz 14 227. The letters do not address the fact that during Beso’s short existence, Beso
g §§§§ 15 employed four different individuals to handle the accounting and keep the Company’s books and
;)‘-j g% 16 | records. Nor do the letters take into account that the Nachums questioned the March 15, 2010
g 17 | P&L report prepared by James and Lowrance and expressed to them that the P&L was unreliable
18 i because it was missing information |
19 228. The letters do not address the fact that numerous employees were fired for
20 | suspicion of stealing from Beso and that there was an incentive for employees to misrepresent
21 | facts to Longoria.
22 229. The letters do not address the fact that the Company retained the services of
23 | various law firms to prepare records and provide services and advice to ROK.
24 230.  The letters do not address the fact that Beso Las Vegas and Eve The Nightclub
25 | employed a large management staff, including general managers, assistant general managers, and
26 | various other managers, each of whom was responsible for certain aspects of Beso’s operations.
27 231.  The letters ignore the fact that Longoria, although only the owner of 9 Units as a
28 | member and not a manager, sought to direct some of the day-to-day operations of the Company.
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1 232.  Longoria’s hands-on approach caught the attention of the LVMPD investigator in
2 | charge of investigating Beso’s liquor license application, who requested that Longoria file a
3 | liquor license suitability application. Upon information and belief, despite requests to submit the
4 || necessary applications, Longoria has failed to do so.
5 233.  As members owning at least 10% of Beso, both Lowrance and M. Nachum
6 || submitted all necessary documentation in connection with Beso Las Vegas and Eve The
7 | Nightclub’s applications for liquor licenses.
8 IIL.
9 CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
10 FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
) 11 (Civil Conspiracy — Against Longoria, Lowrance, Doe Defendants)
; 12 234.  Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate all allegations hitherto made as if fully set forth
o % .
:g qu%ég 13 | herein.
< : gg %é 14 235. Longoria, Lowrance, and Doe Defendants by acting in concert, intended to
% ?éég 15 | accomplish an unlawful objective for the purpose of harming the Nachums,
& 22 16 236.  In derogation of their fiduciary duties, Longoria and Lowrance conspired to oust
§ 17 | M. Nachum from Beso management and deny M. Nachum’s rights and interest in the Company.
18 237.  As part of the conspiracy, Lowrance misrepresented facts to the Justice Court and
19 | obtained a TPO against R. Nachum.
20 238. Longoria and Lowrance proceeded to hire the Doe Defendants to intimidate and
21 | humiliate M. Nachum in front of Beso staff, and unlawfully trespass and remove her from the
22 1 Beso restaurant
23 239. Longoria and Lowrance then attempted to remove ROK as manager of Beso in
24 I violation of the Beso Operating Agreement.
25 240. Lowrance filed an amended list of managers appointing himself as the sole
26 | manager of Beso.
27 241.  Upon information and belief, Longoria and Lowrance, or their agents, began
28 | contacting the press, Beso suppliers, and other third parties representing that M. Nachum was no
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1 (| longer associated with Beso.
2 242.  Longoria and Lowrance, through their agents, have refused to allow M. Nachum to
3 | have access to Beso’s books and records in violation of the Beso Operating Agreement and
4 | Nevada law.
5 243. Defendants’ refusal to allow M. Nachum to have access to Company books and
6 | records has precluded M. Nachum from being able to defend herself and protect her interests in
7 | the Company.
8 244.  Longoria, Lowrance and the Doe Defendants conspired to assault the Nachums
9 | and falsely imprison them.
10 245. M. Nachum has sustained damages as a result of Longoria and Lowrance’s actions
11 | in an amount in excess of $10,000, including lost membership distributions from ROK who
E 12 | Longoria and Lowrance purportedly removed as manager of Beso.
0;) ig 13 246. M. Nachum has been forced to retain counsel to prosecute this action and is
E&_ g%gé i4 | entitled to recovery of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred herein
g ; %%Z’é 15 SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
% é; 16 (Breach of Contract — Against Longoria and Lowrance)
0% 17 247.  Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate all allegations hitherto made as if fully set forth
) 18 | herein.
19 248.  Longoria, Lowrance, the Nachums and other members of Beso entered into the
20 | Beso Operating Agreement.
21 249.  The Beso Operating Agreement is a valid and existing contract.
22 250. M. Nachum and Lowrance entered into the ROK Operating Agreement.
23 251.  The ROK Operating Agreement is a valid and existing contract.
24 252.  Article 6.01(a) of the Beso Operating Agreement appointed ROK as the Manager
25 || of Beso.
26 253.  Under Article 6.01(b), ROK was to serve as Manager until it resigned or was
27 | removed under Article 7 of the Operating Agreement.
28 254. ROK has never resigned as Manager of Beso.
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1 255.  Under the ROK Operating Agreement, unanimous approval from both managers
2 || (Lowrance and M. Nachum) would have been required to take such an action, and M. Nachum
3 | never consented to resign.
4 256. Lowrance and Longoria breached the Beso Operating Agreement by removing
5 | ROK as Manager of Beso without a majority of votes and without following the procedures set
6 | forth in the Beso Operating Agreement.
7 257. No meeting or special meeting of the Beso members was held to vote on ROK’s
8 | removal as Manager.
9 258.  Article 14.01 of the Beso Operating Agreement provides that action may be taken
10 | by consent without a meeting if “all Members individually or coliectively consent by signing a
11 | written approval of the act.”
S 12 259. M. Nachum is and has always been a member of Beso who is entitied to vote.
g ig 13 260. M. Nachum never received any written notice of the location, date and time of a
§ 3 %%gé 14 | meeting scheduled to remove ROK as manager
f | %%%g 15 261. M. Nachum never signed a written approval of the action.
g éz 16 262. Defendants also breached the Beso Operating Agreement by denying M. Nachum
5 17 | accessto Beso’s books and records after she made a proper demand.
" 18 263. As aresult of the aforementioned breaches M. Nachum has suffered damages in an
19 | amount in excess of $10,000.
20 264. M. Nachum has been forced to retain counsel to prosecute this action and is
71 | entitled to recovery of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred herein.
22 THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
23 (Abuse of Process — Against Longoria and Lowrance)
24 265.  Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate all allegations hitherto made as if fully set forth
75 || herein.
26 266. Lowrance used the process to obtain a TPO against R. Nachum for an ulterior
27 | purpose, not because R. Nachum was harassing or stalking Lowrance.
28 267. Service of Lowrance’s TPO was intended to intimidate and scare R. Nachum, not
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1 | to protect Lowrance.

2 268. Lowrance’s willful act in obtaining a TPO without basis and hiring the Doe

3 | Defendants to serve the TPO on R. Nachum in front of Beso Las Vegas and Eve The Nightclub

4 | staff to intimidate R. Nachum was an abuse of Justice Court proceedings.

5 269. In addition, Lowrance and Longoria abused the trespass process set forth in NRS

6 | 207.200 by issuing an improper trespass notice to M. Nachum for an ulterior purpose.

7 270. Longoria’s accountant invited the Nachums to participate in a “meeting” at Beso

8 | Las Vegas on May 5, 2010. The meeting was called for the purpose of luring the Nachums into

9 | the restaurant so that Lowrance and Longoria could then issue them an improper trespass notice.
10 271.  Longoria and Lowrance hired the Doe Defendants to issue the trespass notice to
11 | M. Nachum and escort the Nachums from Beso restaurant. One of the officers had a video

A

12 | camera and was recording the event. Ali of this occurred in front of Beso staff and management.

13 272. Defendants did not issue the trespass notice for a proper purpose, but rather for the

ES

3883 HOWARD HUGHES PARKWAY, SUITE 1100

A NT

arrassing the Nachums and preciuding M. Nachum from

00

I

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89169
(702)784-52

19 | Beso guest, but rather a co-Manager of ROK, duly authorized to manage the affairs of Beso.

20 275.  As aresult of Defendants’ abuses of process, Plaintiffs have suffered fear, anxiety
21 || and mental and emotional distress.

7 276.  As a direct result of Defendants’ conduct, the Nachums have been damaged in an

23 | amount in excess of $10,000.

24 277.  The Nachums have been forced to retain counsel to prosecute this action and are

5 || entitled to recovery of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred herein.

6 | 111
a7 | 111
g | 111
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1 FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
2 (Breach of Fiduciary Duty - Against Longoria and Lowrance)
3 278.  Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate all allegations hitherto made as if fully set forth
4 | berein.
5 279. Pursuant to the Beso Operating Agreement, Longoria and Lowrance owed M.
6 | Nachum fiduciary duties equal to those of a partner in a partnership.
7 280. The Beso Operating Agreement provides that: “A Member’s or Manager’s
8 | standard of conduct owed to the Company and other Members and Managers is to act in the
9 | highest good faith to the Members and Managers, and a Member or Manager may not seek to
10 | obtain an advantage in the Company affairs by the slightest misconduct, misrepresentation,
11 | concealment, threat, or adverse pressure of any kind.”
g 12 281. The fiduciary duty between partners one of full and frank disclosure of all relevant
g ;:jg 13 | information and of loyalty.
§ - é%gé 14 282. Longoria and Lowrance breached their fiduciary duties to M. Nachum by, among
f 1 %g%g 15 | other things, failing to disclose their intentions to remove M. Nachum from Beso Las Vegas by a
= | 728
(j;"% g% 16 | false claim of trespass, refusing to communicate with M. Nachum, attempting to oust M. Nachum
§ 17 | from management, refusing to provide M. Nachum access to Beso’ books and records,
) 18 | questioning M. Nachum’s ownership interest in Beso, hiring the Doe Defendants to intimidate
19 | and humiliate M. Nachum in front of Beso staff, and blaming M. Nachum for any and all of
20 | Beso’s financial, operational and managerial problems.
21 283. M. Nachum has suffered damages as a proximate cause of Defendants’ breach in
22 | an amount in excess of $10,000.
73 284. M. Nachum has been forced to retain counsel to prosecute this action and is
74 | entitled to recovery of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred herein.
a5 | /11
2% Il 77/
v R
a8 | ///
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1 FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
2 (Contractual Breach of Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing - Against Longoria
3 and Lowrance)
4 285.  Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate all allegations hitherto made as if fully set forth
5 || herein.
6 286. Longoria, Lowrance, and the Nachums are members of Beso and parties to the
7 || Beso Operating Agreement.
8 287. Longoria and Lowrance owed a duty of good faith to M. Nachum.
9 288. Longoria and Lowrance breached their duty in a manner that was unfaithful to the
10 | Beso Operating Agreement when they surreptitiously prepared a trespass notice and hired a group
11 | of men to remove M. Nachum from Beso Las Vegas while she was a co-Manager of ROK.
S 12 289. Longoria and Lowrance breached their duty in a manner that was unfaithful to th
g 22 13 || Beso Operating Agreement when they refused to allow M. Nachum access to business records
§ : é%g% 14 ; and questioned her membership interest in and authority to direct the affairs of the Company
f ) %gg 15 290. Longoria and Lowrance breached their duty in a manner that was unfaithful to the
— | 5238
32‘«; é% 16 | Beso Operating Agreement when they purported to remove M. Nachum from her managerial
g 17 | position without a majority vote of the members at a properly noticed meeting or unanimous
m 18 | written consent of the members.
19 291.  As a result of Defendants’ breaches, M. Nachum’s justified expectations were
20 | denied and she has suffered damages in an amount in excess of $10,000.
21 292. M. Nachum has been forced to retain counsel to prosecute this action and is
7o || entitled to recovery of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred herein.
23 SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
24 (Tortious Breach of Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing - Against Longoria
25 and Lowrance)
26 293. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate all allegations hitherto made as if fully set forth
97 | herein.
28 294.  Longoria, Lowrance, and the Nachums are members of Beso and parties to the

-31-




1 || Beso Operating Agreement.
2 295.  Longoria and Lowrance owed a duty of good faith to M. Nachum.
3 296. Longoria and Lowrance owed M. Nachum a fiduciary duty pursuant to the Beso
4 | Operating Agreement
5 297.  As detailed above, Longoria and Lowrance breached their duty to M. Nachum by
6 || engaging in misconduct.
7 298. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ misconduct, M. Nachum has
8 | suffered damages in an amount in excess of $10,000.
9 299. M. Nachum has been forced to retain counsel to prosecute this action and is
10 | entitled to recovery of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred herein.
11 SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
E i2 (Unjust Enrichment - Against Beso)
g zg 13 300.  Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate all allegations hitherto made as if fully set forth
= ?255 :4 I herein,
Sagias
g 7 %gg’é‘ 15 301. The Nachums made various loans to .Beso to fund construction costs without
E é; 16 | entering into a written contract.
i 17 302.  Beso has repaid some of the loans, but still owes the Nachums $280,000.
) 18 303. Beso has retained this money against fundamental principles of justice or equity
19 | and good conscience and therefore has been unjustly enriched.
20 304. The Nachums have been forced to retain counsel to prosecute this action and are
71 | entitled to recovery of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred herein.
22 EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
23 (Money Lent — Against Beso)
24 305. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate all allegations hitherto made as if fully set forth
95 | herein.
26 306. Due to the lack of capital contributions, the Nachums made various loans to Beso
27 || to fund construction costs.
78 307.  Beso has repaid some of the loans, but still owes the Nachums $280,000.
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1 308. Beso is required to repay the Nachums in the amount of $280,000.
2 309. The Nachums have been forced to retain counsel to prosecute this action and are
3 | entitled to recovery of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred herein.
4 NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
5 (Assault — Against the Doe and Roe Defendants)
6 310.  Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate all allegations hitherto made as if fully set forth
7 || herein.
8 311.  On May 5, 2010 the Doe Defendants surrounded the Nachums while they were
9 || seated in Beso Las Vegas in such a manner so as to cause the Nachums to feel apprehension that
10 | they would be the victims of unprivileged, harmful and/or offensive touching by the Doe
) 11 | Defendants.
g 12 312. The Doe Defendants were acting within the scope of their employment and
g ;% 13 || therefore the Roe Defendants are liable for acts of the Doe Defendants.
§§§§§§ 4 313.  As a direct and proximate result of the Doe Defendants’ conduct, the Nachums
g ;ggé 15 | suffered pain and anxiety.
g
c% gg 16 314. As a direct and proximate result of the Doe Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiffs have
é 17 | suffered general and special damages in an amount in excess of $10,000.
18 315.  The Nachums have been forced to retain counsel to prosecute this action and are
19 || entitled to recovery of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred herein.
20 TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
21 (False Imprisonment — Against the Doe and Roe Defendants)
22 316.  Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate all allegations hitherto made as if fully set forth
23 | herein.
24 317. On May 5, 2010 the Doe Defendants surrounded the Nachums while they were
25 | seated in Beso Las Vegas.
26 318.  The Doe Defendants acted intending to confine the Nachums of their liberty while
27 || they served R. Nachum with Lowrance’s TPO and read and served the false trespass notice on the
28 | Nachums.
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1 319. The Doe Defendants’ acts directly or indirectly resulted in the confinement of the
2 | Nachums.
3 320. The Nachums were conscious of their confinement, which occurred without their
4 | consent.
5 321. The Nachums were intimidated and humiliated by the Doe Defendants and have
6 | suffered mental and emotional distress as a direct and proximate result of the actions of the Doe
7 || Defendants.
8 322. The Doe Defendants were acting within the scope of their employment and
9 || therefore the Roe Defendants are liable for acts of the Doe Defendants.
10 323. As a direct and proximate result of the Doe Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiffs have
) 1T | suffered general and special damages in an amount in excess of $10,000.
g 12 324. The Nachums have been forced to retain counsel to prosecute this action and are
i;) m;% 13 || entitled to recovery of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred herein.
< . %;gg 14 ELEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
g Egég 15 (Declaratory Relief — Against Longoria, Lowrance and Beso)
% §§ 16 325.  Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate all allegations hitherto made as if fully set forth
g 17 | herein.
18 326.  Plaintiffs do hereby seek a declaratory judgment pursuant to NRS 30.010, et seq
19 | interpreting, reforming, enforcing the terms of the Beso Operating Agreement, ROK Operating
20 I Agreement, Membership Purchase Agreement, the First, Second, and Third Amendments to the
21 || Beso Operating Agreement, and the Longoria Loan Agreement.
22 327. A declaratory judgment from the Court is necessary to define the rights, duties and
23 || obligations of the parties with respect to the above-mentioned documents.
24 328. Based the allegations set forth herein, an actual and justiciable controversy
25 | presently exists between Plaintiffs and Defendants.
26 329.  Without declaratory relief, M. Nachum will continue to be harmed because, among
27 | other things, Defendants will continue to deprive her of her rights and interests in ROK and Beso.
28 330. Plaintiffs ask the Court for a declaration with respect to the following:
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1 a. The number of membership Units owned by each member of Beso.
2 b. That M. Nachum is entitled to have access to Beso’s books and records
3 under the Beso Operating Agreement.
4 c. That Beso’s trespass notice was improper and therefore void.
5 d. That ROK is still the manager of Beso.
6 e. That M. Nachum is a member and manager of ROK and that ROK can act
7 only by unanimous consent of its managers.
8 f. That the Second and Third Amendments to the Beso Operating Agreement
9 were not validly adopted and have no force or effect.
10 g. That the Longoria Loan Agreement provision allotting additional
) 11 membership interests to Longoria in exchange for Longoria’s $1,000,000
g 12 loan violates the Beso Operating Agreement and was not authorized by an
E’ ;% 13 amendment to the Beso Operating Agreement and Schedule A thereto and
= | B%48g o
; : %g%g 14 is therefore unenforceable, void and of no force and effect.
f z §§§ 15 331.  Until the Court issues the requested declaration, Plaintiff will continue to be
| =
& g% 16 | damaged
§ 17 332. The Nachums have been forced to retain counsel to prosecute this action and are
18 | entitled to recovery of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred herein.
19 TWELFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
20 (Appointment of Receiver)
21 333. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate all allegations hitherto made as if fully set forth
22 || herein
23 334. M. Nachum is entitled to an appointment of a receiver pursuant to NRS 32.010 to
24 || protect her rights and interests in Beso, which has been threatened as set forth above.
25 335. M. Nachum has no adequate remedy at law to enforce her rights and, unless
26 | granted the relief as prayed for herein, will suffer irreparable injury.
27 336. M. Nachum has been forced to retain counsel to prosecute this action and is
28 | entitled to recovery of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred herein.
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1 Iv.
2 PRAYER FOR RELIEF
3 WHEREFORE Plaintiffs pray for relief as fo